
Oliver No rt h at  Iran-Co nt ra
Hearings

Nort h, Iran-Cont ra, and t he Doomsday Project : The Original Congressional Cover Up of Cont inuit y-
of-Government  Planning

Pet er Dale Sco t t

If ever the co ns titutio nal demo cracy o f the United States  is  o verthro wn, we no w have a better idea o f ho w this  is  likely to  be do ne.
That may be the mo s t impo rtant co ntributio n o f the recent Iran-co ntra co ngress io nal hearings .
                        -- Theo do re Draper,  “The Rise o f the American Junta,” New Yo rk Review o f Bo o ks , Octo ber 8 , 1987.

In 1989  I published the fo llo wing article, “No rt hwards wit ho ut  No rt h: Bush, Co unt ert erro rism, and t he Co nt inuat io n o f
Secret  Po wer.” It is  o f interes t to day because o f its  descriptio n o f ho w the Co ngress io nal Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees , in their
inves tigatio n o f Iran-Co ntra, assembled do cumentatio n o n what we no w kno w as  Co ntinuity o f Go vernment (COG) planning, o nly to
suppress  o r mis represent this  impo rtant info rmatio n in their Repo rt. I was  co ncerned abo ut the co mmittees ’ decis io n to  s ides tep
the larger is sues  o f secret po wers  and secret wars , little kno wing that these secret COG po wers , o r “Do o msday Pro ject,” wo uld in
fact be secretly implemented o n September 11, 2011. (One o f the two  Co mmittee Chairs  was  Lee Hamilto n, later co -chair o f the
s imilarly evas ive 9/11 Co mmiss io n Repo rt).

Recently I have written abo ut the extrao rdinary po wer o f the COG netwo rk Do o msday
planners , o r what CNN in 1991 described as  a “shado w go vernment…abo ut which yo u

kno w no thing.”1 Returning to  my 1989  essay, I see the essential but co mplex o verlap
between this  Do o msday Co mmittee and the Iran-Co ntra secret “junta” o r cabal described
by Theo do re Draper and Senato r Paul Sarbanes  within the Reagan-Bush adminis tratio n.

The o riginal article pro vides  detailed info rmatio n that draws  attentio n to  what we have
s ince co me to  kno w as  COG planning o r the Do o msday pro ject, and do cuments  the use
o f “terro rism” as  a pretext to  jus tify it and o ther abuses  o f co ns titutio nal go vernment.

Specifically, the article demo ns trates  ho w No rth and Geo rge H.W. Bush (a far mo re
central f igure) used the rubric o f “co unterterro rism” to

a) fight an undeclared pro xy war agains t Nicaragua in defiance o f co ngress io nal
o ppo s itio n

b) plan fo r mass ive warrantless  detentio n

c) create a special netwo rk fo r develo ping po licies  at o dds  with o fficial
White Ho use po licies  (no tably the sale o f arms  to  Iran)

d) use publicly generated funds  to  defeat o ppo nents  o f the Co ntra pro xy war
in Co ngress  

e) use publicly generated funds  to  pro pagandize the American peo ple

f) use publicly generated funds  to  interfere with a witness  to  real Co ntra
terro rism

g) falsely claim that the witness  himself was  a terro ris t

h) co ver up co ntra drug trafficking and thwart Senato r Kerry’s  inves tigatio n o f this .

No t all o f these excesses  can be alleged o f the surviving COG Co mmittee after Iran-Co ntra. But o ne is  extremely relevant to  what
happened o n 9/11: the plans  fo r mass ive warrantless  detentio n. Also  relevant is  the pro tectio n o f drug traffickers  who  were bo th
active terro ris ts  and CIA assets .

The article quo tes  fro m two  relevant parts  o f Oliver No rth’s  tes timo ny to  the Select Co mmittees . In the firs t, No rth explains  why he
(and o ther fo rces  in go vernment) were so  o bsessed with o n-go ing plans  to  detain large numbers  o f anti-war pro tes ters : “In
Vietnam ... we wo n all the battles  and then lo s t the war .... I wo uld also  po int o ut that we didn't lo se the war in Vietnam. We lo s t the
war right here in this  city.” My article po ints  o ut that No rth was  no t alo ne in this  o bsess io n:

No rth was  speaking fo r a large co nsensus  amo ng bo th po licymakers  and Co ld War academics  who  believe that "the

mo s t press ing pro blem is  no t in the Third Wo rld but here at ho me in the s truggle fo r the minds  o f peo ple.”2 His
co mplaint also  echo ed that o f the French co lo nels  who  believed (in the wo rds  o f a sympathetic American o bserver)

that "France was  no t defeated in Algeria; de Gaulle cho se to  retreat."3 This  belief in France led the [resentful]
co lo nels , almo s t all o f who m were veterans  o f po litical warfare in the co lo nies , to  direct go vernment funds  into
"parallel hierarchies " fo r the manipulatio n o f po litical o pinio n in the ho me co untry. That practice was  unco mfo rtably
clo se to  the use o f go vernment funds  by No rth, Carl Channell, and Richard Miller via the Channell-Miller netwo rk (and
with the suppo rt o f rightwing co ntributo rs  and No rth's  Office to  Co mbat Terro rism), in their attempt to  elect a

Co ngress  mo re willing to  vo te fo r co ntra aid.4
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(In the decade and a half s ince Iran-Co ntra, the use o f go vernment funds  to  target co ngress io nal o ppo nents  has  been replaced by
ano ther practice: the o utso urcing o f go vernment co ntracts  to
Private Military Co mpanies  and Private Intelligence  Co mpanies  who
then channel so me o f the funds  to  elect pro -war co ngress io nal

suppo rters  and defeat their critics .)5

The seco nd excerpt fro m the No rth Hearings  co ncerned No rth’s  ro le
in COG planning:

On July 5, 1987, the Miami Herald repo rted that No rth "helped
draw up a co ntro vers ial plan to  suspend the Co ns titutio n in
the event o f natio nal cris is  such as  nuclear war, vio lent and
widespread internal dis sent, o r natio nal o ppo s itio n to  a U.S.
military invas io n abro ad." The plan allegedly envisaged the
ro und-up and internment o f large numbers  o f bo th do mes tic
dis s idents  (so me 26 ,000) and aliens  (perhaps  as  many as
300,000-400,000) in camps  such as  the o ne in Oakdale,
Lo uis iana. …

In the televised Iran-Co ntra Hearings , No rth was  asked by
Co ngressman Bro o ks  to  dis cuss  the alleged co ntingency
plan to  suspend the American co ns titutio n. Senato r Ino uye,
the co mmittee chairman, twice intervened, ruling that the
ques tio n was  "highly sens itive and class ified," and sho uld
o nly be dis cussed in executive sess io n. The next day No rth
to ld Senato r Bo ren, a much mo re pliant ques tio ner, that to
his  kno wledge the United States  had no  such plan "in being,"

and that he had no t participated in [creating such a plan].6

We no w kno w that No rth’s  carefully phrased answer to  Senato r
Bo ren’s  carefully phrased ques tio n was  deliberately mis leading. COG
planning co ntinued witho ut interruptio n, until it was  finally
implemented o n 9/11.

Drawing in part o n the extens ive supplementary exhibits  to  the
superf icial Iran-Contra Report, my article was  able to  po int to  the
mechanism whereby so -called co unterterro rism planning co uld be
used to  mask a number o f unrelated activities , so me o f them clearly
illegal:

By creating a co unterterro rism netwo rk with its  o wn secure sys tem o f intelligence co mmunicatio ns , channels  were
created fro m which bureaucrats  with o ppo s ing viewpo ints  co uld s imply be excluded. The co unterterro rism netwo rk
even had its  o wn "special wo rldwide antiterro ris t co mputer netwo rk, co denamed Flashbo ard," by which members
co uld co mmunicate exclus ively with each o ther and with their co llabo rato rs  abro ad [to  the exclus io n o f their no minal
superio rs ]. Tho se invo lved in the Iran arms  deals  appear to  have used "flash" messages  o n this  secure sys tem as

late as  Octo ber 31, 1986 .7

Perhaps  the mo s t serio us  limitatio n to  my essay was  my misassessment o f the secret Iran-Co ntra cabal as  co ns is ting “largely o f …
middle-level o peratives :”

The true cabal appears  to  have co ns is ted largely o f tho se middle-level o peratives  bro ught to gether by their
respo ns ibility fo r co unterterro rism, a gro up including no t o nly No rth and Po indexter but also  Duane Clarridge and
the quintet who  mo ved fro m develo ping and reviewing the "co unterterro ris t" po licies  with No rth at the Bush Task
Fo rce Senio r Review Gro up to  executing them with No rth thro ugh the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up. (The five were Charles
Allen o f the CIA, Ro bert Oakley o f the State Department, No el Ko ch o f the Defense Department, Lt. Gen. Jo hn
Mo ellering fro m the Jo int Chiefs  o f Staff, and Oliver Revell o f the FBI.) So me o f these men survived in the Reagan
adminis tratio n unscathed, despite having respo ns ibilities  fo r the Iran-co ntra affair that wo uld seem at leas t

co mparable to  No rth's .8

My article co rrectly s tressed the centrality o f Vice Pres ident Geo rge H.W. Bush to  the gro up. I was  unaware in 1989  that Bush was

also  directing the o n-go ing Do o msday COG planning pro ject, which co ntinued to  meet under three pres idents  o ver two  decades .9

No r did I kno w then that Charles  Allen, o ne o f the chief figures  in the Iran arms  sales  s candal, was  serving under Bush as  the deputy
directo r o f the Do o msday pro ject (where a co lleague quo ted him as  saying during a COG meeting, "o ur jo b is  to  thro w the

Co ns titutio n o ut the windo w").10  An advo cate as  early as  1998  o f re-invading Iraq, Allen wo uld rise under Pres ident Geo rge W. Bush
to  beco me Under Secretary fo r the Office o f Intelligence and Analys is  at the Department o f Ho meland Security.

Co mbining what we knew then abo ut the COG planning apparatus  with what we kno w no w, I wo uld sugges t that we need to  dis cern
two  different levels  o f planning (o r, if yo u will, o f cabal activity):

1) tho se at the to p, including bo th Vice Pres ident Bush and also  figures  wo rking o uts ide go vernment, such as
Rumsfeld, Cheney, and James  Wo o lsey (future CIA DCI during the Clinto n adminis tratio n);

2) tho se embedded in the bureaucracy and charged with fleshing o ut COG plans  and o ther extrao rdinary secret
o peratio ns , such as  the Iran arms  sales . Acco rding to  the New York Times, “ the pro ject invo lved hundreds  o f peo ple,
including White Ho use o fficials , Army generals , C.I.A. o fficers  and private co mpanies  run by retired military and

intelligence perso nnel.”11
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Bo th levels  availed themselves  o f their o wn special co mmunicatio ns  netwo rks ,
Pro ject 908  and FLASHBOARD, to  avo id acco untability to  the regular adminis trative

hierarchy.12 Co mmunicatio ns  perso nnel fo r the firs t secret netwo rk were attached
to  the rarely mentio ned White Ho use Co mmunicatio ns  Agency (WHCA), an agency
who se relevance to  the JFK assass inatio n and 9/11 I have o utlined

elsewhere.13 Meanwhile Bush pres ided o ver a maze-like series  o f o verlapping
res tricted gro ups  and agencies  with changing names , amo ng which were the
Natio nal Pro gram Office and the Defense Mo bilizatio n Planning Sys tems  Agency,

respo ns ible fo r the vario us  Do o msday initiatives .14

In 1989, citing leaked secret memo s , I gave this  example o f secret planning at the
seco nd level:

In June 1986  a new "Alien Bo rder Co ntro l Co mmittee" was  es tablished, "to
implement specific reco mmendatio ns  made by the Vice Pres ident's  Task
Fo rce o n Terro rism regarding the co ntro l and remo val o f terro ris t aliens  in
the U.S.” One o f its  wo rking gro ups  was  charged with co nducting "a review
o f co ntingency plans  fo r remo val o f selected aliens ." These 1986
co ntingency plans  "relating to  alien terro ris ts ," which were leaked to  the
press , "anticipated that the INS may be tasked with ... apprehending, and
remo ving fro m the U.S., a s izeable gro up o f aliens ," and again called fo r
ho us ing "up to  5,000  aliens  in tempo rary (tents ) quarters " at a camp in
Oakdale, Lo uis iana. As  the des ignated co o rdinato r o f co unterterro rism in
the Natio nal Security Co uncil, No rth wo uld certainly have kno wn o f these

co ntingency plans , which appear to  be s till with us .15

We kno w no w that these co ntingency plans  were fo rmally implemented in
September 2001 as  the new Department o f Ho meland Security’s  security plan
Endgame, a ten-year plan to  build detentio n centers , with annual budget

allo catio ns  in the hundreds  o f millio ns  o f do llars .16

In sho rt, the detailed
info rmatio n in this  1989
article, tho ugh o f less  interes t
to day with respect to  the
specifics  o f illicit arms  sales ,
cas ts  impo rtant additio nal
ins ight o n the elabo rate COG
planning (o r Do o msday
Pro ject) which, under the
decade-lo ng emergency
pro claimed in September
2011, has  so  radically
res tructured American law and
so ciety.
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(Washingto n: Natio nal Defense Univers ity Press , 1984), 293. Tanham co ntinued: “We have to  have a firm base here in this  co untry
that believes  in…what the go vernment is  do ing. But the media are no t very helpful….So meho w, we have go t to  get o ver the
antago nism that develo ped during Vietnam [and] achieve a mo re balanced presentatio n o f the news .”

3 Angelo  Co devilla Modern France (LaSalle, Ill.: Open Co urt, 1974), 219 . Cf. 213:

By the end o f 1957, the battle o f Algiers  had been very decis ively wo n. All leading revo lutio naries  were either dead, in
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Media co ncern with the Iran-co ntra affair vanished suddenly in the spring o f 1988 , as  so o n as  it became clear that Vice Pres ident

Geo rge Bush, o ne o f the dramatis  perso nae, wo uld beco me his  party's  pres idential candidate.1 On the surface o f it, the Iran-co ntra
co ntro versy might indeed seem to  have subs ided. U.S. arms  sales  to  Iran appear to  have ceased. Overt military aid to  the co ntras
no w appears  a remo te po ss ibility, altho ugh we sho uld no t fo rget that its  successo r, "humanitarian ass is tance," was  exactly what

Oliver No rth called the arms  he was  supplying to  the co ntras  via the Richard Seco rd Enterprise in 1985-1986.2 Abo ve all, Pres ident
Bush -- as  if sens itive to  revelatio ns  abo ut his  o nce so lid suppo rt fo r the Iran arms  sales  -- has  selected a mo re pragmatic inner
co uncil fo r his  adminis tratio n, fro m which his  fo rmer s taff o n Iran-co ntra matters  (Craig Fuller and Do nald Gregg) have been
surpris ingly excluded.

And yet there is  a dis turbing ins titutio nal legacy fro m the Iran-co ntra era o f flagrant abuses  o f co vert po wer. This  is  the secret
co unterterro rism apparatus  that in 1985-1986  was  assembled, under the auspices  o f then Vice Pres ident Bush, and which became
the vehicle fo r Oliver No rth's  extrao rdinary influence within the go vernment. With the wo rldwide decline in the number o f private
terro ris t incidents , there is  even mo re reaso n to  review the co unterterro rism apparatus  mo unted by the Reagan adminis tratio n
agains t them, in which the key co o rdinato r in the Natio nal Security Co uncil (NSC) was  Co lo nel Oliver No rth. The 1987 co ngress io nal
inves tigatio n o f Co lo nel No rth's  activities  revealed in pass ing ho w No rth and his  co unterterro rism asso ciates  in o ther agencies
abused the secret ins titutio ns  o f this  co unter-terro rism apparatus  to  bypass  respo ns ible Cabinet members  and further the
co ntro vers ial Iran arms  sales .

No t all o f these abuses  ended with the Iran-co ntra dis clo sures  and the departure o f Oliver No rth. In particular, the abuse o f
co unterterro rism po wers  in embarrass ing do mes tic critics  o f the adminis tratio n's  po licies  co ntinued, and is  all the mo re alarming
because o f the Iran-Co ntra Select Co mmittees ' po inted refusal to  pursue evidence o f it. The harassment o f do mes tic critics  as
“terro ris ts " is  a s to ry clo sely related to  the s to ry o f Iran-co ntra. The two  s to ries  invo lve the same ins titutio ns , abo ve all No rth's
Office to  Co mbat Terro rism and the related interagency Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up, bo th o f which were ins tituted in 1986  as  a result o f
Vice Pres ident Geo rge Bush's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism.

The Iran-Co ntra Select Co mmittees  came upo n flagrant evidence that No rth had used the po wers  co o rdinated by the Operatio ns
Sub-Gro up to  harass  a do mes tic critic, Jack Terrell, who  had deno unced to  the FBI illegal gun-running and drug-trafficking by the
co ntra suppo rt netwo rk. The co mmittees , do minated by a so lid bipartisan majo rity who  favo red co ntra suppo rt, refused to  allo w
ques tio ns  to  a No rth-Seco rd emplo yee o n this  subject, and even suppressed a crucial do cument that s tro ngly indicated illegal
interference with a federal witness . Like the mains tream press , the co mmittees  fo cused narro wly o n the respo ns ibilities  o f tho se
already departed fro m the Reagan White Ho use: No rth, Po indexter, McFarlane), and played do wn the ro le o f No rth's  co unterterro rism
asso ciates  who  are s till in o ffice.

This  article will attempt to  do  what the co mmittees  failed to  do : to  lo o k at the abuses , no t o f departed individuals , but o f secret
co unterterro rism ins titutio ns  which are s till in exis tence. Until these abuses  are publicly unders to o d, there is  the risk that they will
co ntinue, and that the natio n will co ntinue to  drift.

T he Iran-Co nt ra Repo rt , Bush, and Do mest ic Repressio n

Since the publicatio n o f the Report of the Congressional Committees Investigating the Iran-Contra Affair (hereafter Report), there have
been s igns  o f a mo vement away fro m an incipient co ns titutio nal cris is  to wards  a mo re bipartisan fo reign po licy, particularly in Eas t-
Wes t relatio ns . But there is  no  reaso n to  celebrate these changes  as  s ignaling an end to  this  co untry's  recent experience o f
go vernment by secret netwo rks , with their ero s io n o f co ns titutio nal checks  and balances . On the co ntrary, the No rth-Seco rd
Enterprise's  dealings  with co nvicted drug-traffickers , and its  use o f dirty tricks  agains t do mes tic critics  o f the co ntra suppo rt po licy
(us ing pro cedures  es tablished to  fight terro ris ts ) have been sys tematically unders tated o r igno red by Co ngress . As  a result, the
res t o f the co unterterro rism netwo rk, who  with No rth ran the Iran and Co ntra o peratio ns , have mo s tly go ne unpunished.

Given the eagerness  o f Co ngress  to  infringe civil liberties  in its  anti-drug legis latio n, the failure o f the co ngress io nal Iran-co ntra
Repo rt to  deno unce either the No rth-Seco rd use o f drug-traffickers  o r their harassment o f do mes tic whis tle-blo wers  was
particularly alarming. By their active suppress io n o f do cuments  dealing with drug-trafficking and do mes tic harassment, the
co mmittees  made themselves  co mplicit with the adminis tratio n's  defense o f the s tatus  quo  in these areas .

Thus , ho wever benignly we co ns true their intentio ns , the Ho use and Senate co mmittees  may have created a new cris is  o f credibility
in the place o f an o ld o ne, a cris is  fo r Co ngress  as  well as  fo r the adminis tratio n. That a so lid majo rity within the two  co mmittees
was  in suppo rt o f co ntra aid (16  o ut o f 27 had vo ted fo r it) may explain their failure to  weaken the secret po wers  which No rth and
the FBI were us ing agains t critics  o f the co ntra suppo rt po licy.

The co ntents  o f the Repo rt sugges t that it was  written to  appease the mo derate factio n o f the Republican Party, and specifically the
three Eas t Co as t Republicans  (Senato rs  Rudman, Co hen, and Trible) who  jo ined with the majo rity. Others  have remarked that the

Repo rt to uched very lightly o n Vice Pres ident Bush's  invo lvement in the Iran-co ntra affair.3 It is  impo rtant to  no te also  that the
Repo rt barely mentio ns  the central ro le in the Iran-co ntra affair o f two  co unterterro rism gro ups  fo r who se creatio n the vice

pres ident was  respo ns ible: No rth's  o wn Office to  Co mbat Terro rism, and the co nco mitant interagency Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up.4

Bush in the seco nd half o f 1985 was  head o f the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbatting Terro rism. On January 20 ,1986,
fo llo wing the repo rt o f that Task Fo rce, Natio nal Security Decis io n Directive (NSDD) No . 207 ins titutio nalized No rth's  ro le as
co o rdinato r o f the adminis tratio n's  co unterterro ris t pro gram, and supplied him with a secret o ffice and s taff (the Office to  Co mbat

Terro rism) that was  unkno wn to  so me o ther members  o f the Natio nal Security Co uncil.5 Tho ugh they seem to  have wo rked chiefly
o n the Iran arms  deals  and co ntra supply o peratio n, No rth and his  two  s taffers  Ro bert Earl and Craig Co y (bo th o f who m came fro m
the Staff Wo rking Gro up o f Bush's  Task o perated at the heart o f a who le co mplex o f co ntro vers ial secret o peratio ns  in 1986. Earl
himself tes tif ied that he spent between o ne-quarter and o ne-half o f his  time o n Iran matters ; his  co lleague Co y "knew everything ...

abo ut Demo cracy Inco rpo rated" (the co ntra suppo rt o peratio n).6  Earl and Co y also  the minutes  o f ano ther impo rtant creatio n o f
the Task Fo rce and NSDD 207: the interagency Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up (OSG).

Bush and t he Administ rat io n's Det erminat io n t o  Co nt inue No rt h's No n-Iran Operat io ns

This  explains  why the pres ident, when he admitted in March 1987 that the arms  sales  to  Iran were a mis take, asked Bush to

reco nvene his  Task Fo rce "to  review o ur po licy fo r co mbating terro rism and to  evaluate the effectiveness  o f o ur current pro gram.” 7

Having been asked, in effect, to  evaluate his  o wn creatio n, Bush's  public respo nse in June 1987 was  predictable: "o ur current po licy
as  articulated in the Task Fo rce repo rt is  so und, effective, and fully in acco rd with o ur demo cratic principles  and natio nal ideals  o f

freedo m.”8  I am to ld that secretly the Task Fo rce ended the extrao rdinary pro cedure whereby co unterterro rism o fficers  fro m vario us
departments  co uld initiate actio ns  in the OSG witho ut co nsulting their superio rs  in the Cabinet. Such a change wo uld indeed address
the bureaucratic co ncerns  o f No rth's  superio rs , but no t the civil liberties  co ncerns  o f the general public.



Bush's  public finding was  truly o mino us . The depo s itio ns  given to  the Select Co mmittees  by Earl and Co y revealed that the Office to
Co mbat Terro rism had rapidly beco me the means  whereby No rth co uld co o rdinate no t o nly the Iran arms  sales  and the co ntra supply
o peratio n, but also  the do mes tic pro paganda activities  o f Carl "Spitz " Channell and Richard Miller, the clo s ing o ff o f po tentially
embarrass ing inves tigatio ns  by o ther go vernment agencies  (that “might ruin a greater equity o f natio nal security"), and the handling

fo r the White Ho use o f right-wing co ntributo rs  to  illegal co ntra arms  purchases .9  NSDD 207 and the subsequent Finding o f April
1986  had also  autho rized the kidnapping o f internatio nal terro ris ts , o ne o f the mo re co ntro vers ial co vert o peratio ns  po wers

enacted by the Reagan adminis tratio n.10  And the Operatio ns  •Gro up, ano ther creatio n o f NSDD 207, had been used to  harass  a
whis tle-blo wer, Jack Terrell, who  had threatened the survival o f the No rth-Seco rd “Enterprise" by telling the FBI abo ut co ntra supply
illegalities , such as  gun-running and drug-trafficking.

Thus  the Bush peo ple in the Reagan adminis tratio n, having firs t used No rth and then acquiesced in his  departure, wo uld appear to
have appro ved the co ntinuatio n o f mo s t o f his  secret po litical activities  in the name o f co mbating terro rism; they deno unced o nly
"the mis takes  invo lved in o ur co ntacts  with Iran." (These "caused a tempo rary reductio n in credibility which has  been regained as  o ur
reso lve has  beco me apparent.") In co ncluding his  1987 review, Bush no t o nly endo rsed the achievements  o f the apparatus  which
No rth put to gether, but also  declared that we mus t "do  better."

It is  no t surpris ing that the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce sho uld so  exo nerate the extrao rdinary abuses  o f po wer co mmitted by the
co unterterro rism apparatus  which it set up. To  an extrao rdinary extent, the men at the center o f that apparatus  were drawn fro m the
Senio r Review Gro up o f the Task Fo rce itself. That they sho uld have been reco nvened to  evaluate what changes  were needed was  a

sure s ign, if o ne were needed, that the Republicans  were determined to  res is t any pressures  fo r s ignificant change.11

T he Co unt ert erro rism Cabal and It s Survival

What we have seen in recent years , acco rding to  Theo do re Draper and Senato r Paul Sarbanes , is  go vernment by a secret "junta"

within the adminis tratio n.12 Inasmuch as  the primary meaning o f "junta" is  a gro up jo ined fo r the public exercise o f po wer, that term
may s trike so me as  unduly alarmis t, o r at leas t premature. But a gro up o perating secretly, and at cro ss  purpo ses  with o ther
o fficials  in the same adminis tratio n, there certainly was . I shall refer to  this  gro up no t as  a "junta," but rather as  a cabal.

At what level did this  cabal o perate? It was  apparently no t at the level o f Reagan and tho se in the Oval Office, who  had little sense o f
what was  go ing o n. No r was  it res tricted to  No rth and Po indexter, who  were the expendable executo rs  o f the cabal's  s trategy. The
true cabal appears  to  have co ns is ted largely o f tho se middle-level o peratives  bro ught to gether by their respo ns ibility fo r
co unterterro rism, a gro up including no t o nly No rth and Po indexter but also  Duane Clarridge and the quintet who  mo ved fro m
develo ping and reviewing the "co unterterro ris t" po licies  with No rth at the Bush Task Fo rce Senio r Review Gro up to  executing them
with No rth thro ugh the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up. (The five were Charles  Allen o f the CIA, Ro bert Oakley o f the State Department, No el
Ko ch o f the Defense Department, Lt. Gen. Jo hn Mo ellering fro m the Jo int Chiefs  o f Staff, and Oliver Revell o f the FBI.) So me o f
these men survived in the Reagan adminis tratio n unscathed, despite having respo ns ibilities  fo r the Iran-co ntra affair that wo uld

seem at leas t co mparable to  No rth's .13

Ro bert Oakley, fo r example, was  in 1985-1986  the State Department expert o n co unterterro rism. In this  capacity he served firs t o n
the Bush Task Fo rce Senio r Review Gro up, and then co -chaired the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up (OSG) with No rth until abo ut July 1986.
He then res igned fro m the adminis tratio n, allegedly because (as  a Shultz  lo yalis t) he disagreed with No rth's  Iran arms  sales  po licy.
One o f Natio nal Security Adviso r Frank Carlucci's  early acts  o f po s t-Iran-co ntra ho usecleaning in 1987 was  to  bring Ro bert Oakley
back fro m private life to  the Natio nal Security Co uncil.

By es tablishing a special apparatus  to  co mbat terro rism, the Reagan adminis tratio n, and the Bush Task Fo rce in particular, created
an o ngo ing netwo rk able to  bypass  no rmal channels  and pro ceed with an Iran arms  sales  po licy that was  o ppo sed by bo th Secretary
o f State Shultz  and Secretary o f Defense Weinberger, as  well as  by the area desk o fficers  in their respective departments  and in the
CIA. It is  no tewo rthy that the Iran arms  deals  with Manucher Gho rbanifar, altho ugh they had been pro po sed as  early as  No vember
1984, were blo cked until the Bush Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism began to  o perate in July 1985. Thereafter the arms  deals  were
handled by a number o f bureaucrats  who se co mmo n deno minato r, and who se means  o f co mmunicating directly with each o ther, was
their respo ns ibility fo r co unterterro rism, (These men were Michael Ledeen, Charles  Allen, Duane Clarridge, Ro bert Oakley, plus  Oliver
No rth fo r the United States ; and Amiram Nir fo r Is rael.) By creating a co unterterro rism netwo rk with its  o wn secure sys tem o f

intelligence co mmunicatio ns , channels  were created fro m which bureaucrats  with o ppo s ing viewpo ints  co uld s imply be excluded.14

The co unterterro rism netwo rk even had its  o wn "special wo rldwide antiterro ris t co mputer netwo rk, co denamed Flashbo ard," by which

members  co uld co mmunicate exclus ively with each o ther and with their co llabo rato rs  abro ad.15 Tho se invo lved in the Iran arms  deals

appear to  have used "flash" messages  o n this  secure sys tem as  late as  Octo ber 31, 1986 .16

Tho ugh the gro up o perated as  a cabal, I believe it wo uld be wro ng to  see it as  a co nspiracy. Rather, the cabal was  created as  an
arrangement which suited all parts  o f the adminis tratio n, including tho se who  preferred to  have no  respo ns ibility fo r a po licy
(selling arms  to  Iran) which they co uld no t bring themselves  to  suppo rt. This  co nsensual s ides tepping o f respo ns ibility (o r what we
might call "guiltlessness  by dis so ciatio n") was  no t even limited to  the adminis tratio n. By their inattentio n to  No rth's  end-run aro und
the Bo land Amendment, co ngress io nal leaders  had also  co mmunicated the message that they did no t really care very much abo ut
No rth's  co vert law-breaking, as  lo ng as  they themselves  did no t have to  be called to  acco unt fo r it. As  Senato r Kennedy no ted, it was
clear by the end o f 1984 "that Pres ident Reagan has  decided to  keep his  secret war in Nicaragua go ing no  matter what Co ngress

says  o r do es .”17 Yet Co ngress , far fro m reaffirming its  budgetary and war-making po wers , merely fo und face-saving ways  to  adjus t
to  this  s tate o f affairs .

To  reco gnize that the cabal was  to lerated as  a fo rm o f in-ho use deniability (a “divo rce o f co nvenience") is  no t to  diminish the
impo rtance o f the co unterterro ris t netwo rk's  law-breaking, s till les s  o f the Task Fo rce that helped to  ins titutio nalize it. A brief
review o f the end-runs  reso rted to  by the co unterterro ris t netwo rk will remind us  that the respo ns ibility fo r vio lating law and

pro cedure canno t be res tricted, as  the Select Co mmittees ' Repo rt wo uld have us  believe, to  tho se who  have left the go vernment.18

On the co ntrary, we need to  reco gnize that abuses  o ccurred which are s till in need o f co rrectio n.

T he Co unt ert erro rism Net wo rk and Iran in 19 85

The wo rkings  o f this  co unterterro ris t netwo rk were particularly dramatic at the time o f the two  Findings  (in December 1985 and
January 1986) that bro ught the United States  into  the pro hibited bus iness  o f arms  sales  to  Iran. Clair Geo rge, the CIA Directo r o f
Operatio ns  and the man who  sent o ut a “burn no tice" pro hibiting CIA dealings  with Gho rbanifar, tes tif ied ho w CIA Directo r William
Casey (the o ne senio r bureaucrat who  favo red the initiative) bypassed him by having Charles  Allen, the Natio nal Intelligence Officer

fo r Co unterterro rism, deal with Ledeen and Gho rbanifar o n "terro ris t" matters .19

Casey and No rth also  by-passed Geo rge by tasking Allen directly fo r secret intelligence o n Gho rbanifar and his  Iranian co ntact in
September 1985, and res tricting this  intelligence to  fo ur men (Casey, No rth, McFarlane, and Vice Admiral Mo reau) who  favo red the



arms  sales , thus  excluding Shultz , Weinberger, and members  o f the Operatio ns  Directo rate.

Mr. Kerr [Co mmittee Co unsel]. Can yo u give me an unders tanding, if yo u have o ne, o f why it was  that Co lo nel No rth
in September o f 1985 lo o ked to  NlO Allen fo r this  type o f ass is tance as  o ppo sed to  go ing thro ugh the Agency to  its
Operatio ns  Directo rate and asking yo u to  do  that?

Mr. Geo rge. He didn't want us  to  kno w abo ut it.

Mr. Kerr. Do  yo u have any unders tanding to day as  to  why he didn't want yo u to  kno w abo ut it?

Mr. Geo rge. I think they were go ing to  run an o peratio n o n their o wn..... Our reactio n was  go ing to  be this  wo n't
wo rk, but the White Ho use was  already wo rking it..... I'm running aro und saying, hey, here is  my burn no tice, this  guy
is  a lo ser, and, Chris t, he is  wo rking with the Go vernment o f Is rael, he has  already arranged ... the No vember flight
o r was  an intermediary and I'm running aro und saying we do n't want to  wo rk with him when two  majo r co untries , the

Go vernment o f Is rael, a clo se ally and o urselves  are s till wo rking with him.20

The co mmittees ' Report accurately depicted the co nsequences  o f this  maneuver:

Denied access  to  the intelligence, the State Department was  no t to ld o f the Is raeli TOW shipment, was  no t advised
o f the linkage o f Weir's  release to  arms  shipments , and was  no t info rmed o f the Pres ident’s  decis io n o r the U.S.
Go vernment's  invo lvement (R 169).

It did no t, ho wever, explain that this  end-run was  achieved by go ing thro ugh co unterterro rism channels , o r that Gho rbanifar's  case

o fficer at this  time was  No rth' s  co unterterro rism co nsultant, Michael Ledeen.21

At the time o f the No vember HAWK shipment, what the co mmittees ' Report called McFarlane's  "NSC subo rdinates " o nce again "to o k
s teps  to  keep the Department o f State hierarchy in the dark abo ut the co mplex diplo matic pro blems  caused by the o peratio n" (R
178). Once again (tho ugh the Report did no t say this ) co unterterro rism channels  were used to  avo id no rmal channels .

Ro bert Oakley, the State Department's  Directo r o f the Office o f Co unterterro rism and Emergency Planning, autho rized No rth, the
NSC co unterterro rism expert, to  have the U.S. Embassy in Lisbo n ass is t in o btaining clearances  fo r planes  carrying the HAWKs  fro m
Is rael to  Iran (R 181). At the same time, Char1es  Allen, the CIA's  NIO fo r Co unterterro rism, appro ached Duane Clarridge, who  wo uld

later head up the CIA's  Co unterterro rism Task Fo rce.22 Allen sho wed Clarridge, at No rth's  reques t, the specially res tricted
intelligence o n the Ledeen-Gho rbanifar initiative. Clarridge then sent a cable (which so o n disappeared) arranging fo r the CIA Chief in

Lisbo n to  wo rk with Richard Seco rd, who m No rth had already sent there to  wo rk o n the pro blem.23

The intrigues  o f No rth, Seco rd, Clarridge, and Oakley at this  po int sho wed a co ncern fo r po litics  rather than security. The CIA Statio n
Chief in Lisbo n cabled to  Clarridge that "Co pp" (Seco rd) wo uld pho ne Washingto n (No rth) and ask them to  give special
autho rizatio n to  the Miss io n's  chargé d'affaires :

This  was  necessary ... because the mo ment we s tart[ed] putting o vert pressure o n P[rime] M[inis ter's ] o ffice and
F[o reign] M[inis ter] we o pened the very real po ss ibility that the demarche wo uld get back to  the [U.S.] Ambassado r

[Frank Shakespeare, and thus  eventually to  Geo rge Shultz ], creating a delicate political problem.24

Acco rding to  the co mmittees ’ Report, Clarridge’s  respo nse was  to  “insure that if the [chargé d’affaires ] felt co mpelled to
co mmunicate with the State Department, he sho uld use o nly the CIA Channel” (R  181). Clarridge’s  actual cable sho ws  that the
intentio n was  o nce again to  keep matters  within the co unterterro rism netwo rk:

If Charge feels  co mpelled to  repo rt any aspects  to  [nine characters  deleted: po ss ibly "Secretary"] reques t that he
send his  messages  thro ugh [deleted] channels  and we will ensure that they get to  Ambassado r Oakley [State's

Co unterterro rism Chief].25

Later, in December, No rth and an Is raeli o fficial met with Ass is tant Secretary o f Defense Richard Armitage, who se deputy No el Ko ch
was  a member (with Oakley and Allen) o f the Senio r Review Gro up o f the Vice-Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism.
Armitage to ld No rth  “that Secretary Weinberger wo uld be 'appalled' if he knew No rth was  dealing with Iranians "; nevertheless , he
autho rized his  subo rdinates  to  prepare a plan to  replenish the miss ile s to cks  drawn do wn by Is rael in the arms  sales , and he “kept
the so le co py [o f the plan] in his  o ffice safe" (R 194).

The chief subo rdinate so  autho rized was  apparently Armitage's  deputy, No el Ko ch, who  met with No rth, Seco rd, and Charles  Allen at
a February 1986  meeting o n the delivery o f TOW miss iles  to  Iran, and was  later o ne o f three peo ple fro m Defense lis ted by No rth o n
his  sho rt lis t o f "Peo ple who  kno w." (The o ther two  were Secretary Weinberger and Co lin Po well, who  later became Reagan's  Natio nal

Security Adviso r.)26  By this  time Ko ch (and his  military co unterpart Lt. Gen. Mo ellering) had mo ved alo ng with Oakley and Allen fro m
the Task Fo rce Senio r Review Gro up to  the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up. Duane Clarridge jo ined them there in February 1986.

T he Co unt ert erro rism Net wo rk and Iran in 19 86

The co unterterro rism end-run was  used again in January 1986. After Gho rbanifar failed his  po lygraph tes t, Clair Geo rge

dis seminated a no tice saying the CIA wo uld do  no  mo re bus iness  with Gho rbanifar. Gho rbanifar's  po lygraph failure,
ho wever, did no thing to  squelch his  relatio nship with Casey and the NSC s taff. Indeed No rth -- who  "wanted"
Gho rbanifar to  pass  -- had braced himself fo r a negative result. He to ld Ledeen befo rehand that the CIA wo uld make
sure Gho rbanifar flunked because they did no t want to  wo rk with him. Casey, no twiths tanding Clair Geo rge's  advice
to  terminate the Gho rbanifar relatio nship, fo und a way to  deal with Gho rbanifar o uts ide the no rmal Operatio ns
Directo rate headed by Geo rge. Casey o rdered Charles  Allen, who  was  the CIA's  senio r antiterro rism analys t, to  meet
with Gho rbanifar "to  determine and make a reco rd o f all the info rmatio n that he po ssessed o n terro rism, especially
that relating to  Iranian terro rism -- jus t take ano ther lo o k at this  individual." In Geo rge's  view, Allen virtually became
the case o fficer fo r Gho rbanifar [thus  replacing Ledeen, who  left the Adminis tratio n after the No vember arms



f iasco ].... Allen spent five ho urs  with Gho rbanifar at Ledeen's  ho me o n January 13 "to  assess  Subject's  access  In
Iranian Go vernment leaders " and to  o btain info rmatio n fro m him o n terro ris ts  (R 205).

Fo ur days  later the pres ident s igned an amended Finding autho riz ing the "third parties " (Gho rbanifar), a Finding that o nce again was

withheld no t o nly fro m Co ngress  but fro m Weinberger and Shultz  (R 208-09).27

The paragraph quo ted abo ve was  the clo ses t the Report came to  identifying the co unterterro rism netwo rk in the adminis tratio n as
the back channel which allo wed a po licy to  pro ceed while being kept a secret within the adminis tratio n itself. The Report did no t,
ho wever, po int o ut the extent to  which the co unterwo rk served as  a back channel thro ugho ut the adminis tratio n, and no t jus t under
Casey ins ide the CIA. Clair Geo rge tes tif ied ho w Charles  Allen, in his  ro le as  Natio nal Intelligence Officer fo r Co unterterro rism,

repo rted directly to  Casey, and was  allegedly under o rders  no t to  share his  info rmatio n with the Operatio ns  Directo rate,28  A s imilar
exclus io n o f tho se no t cleared fo r co unterterro rism co mmunicatio ns  o ccurred in the State and Defense Departments , and at the
Natio nal Security Co uncil. So meo ne higher than Casey mus t have been respo ns ible fo r this  interagency s ituatio n. One suspects  that
the respo ns ibility will be fo und in the secret repo rt o f the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism.

No r did the repo rt explain that the separate channel fo r co unterterro ris t intelligence made it po ss ible to  flo at intelligence es timates
(fo r example, that Iran had ceased its  terro ris t activities , o r was  lo s ing the war agains t Iraq) which the regular U.S. intelligence

co mmunity wo uld no t endo rse.29

To  sum up, members  o f the Bush Task Fo rce Senio r Review Gro up used their co unterterro rism channels  to  thwart o fficial U.S. po licy
and to  co nceal their activities  fro m their superio rs . The Repo rt, while do ing a reaso nable jo b o f chro nicling the "secrecy, deceptio n,
and disdain fo r the law" o f "a small gro up o f senio r o fficials " (R 11), went o ut o f its  way to  igno re the exis tence o f a

co unterterro rism netwo rk that o perated thro ugh its  o wn ins titutio ns , ins titutio ns  which at leas t partly s till exis t.30

This  sho uld be a matter o f grave co ncern to  tho se who  believe in the o pen and demo cratic determinatio n o f fo reign po licy,
particularly in matters  that co uld lead to  war. Members  o f the co unterterro rism cabal, abo ve all No rth and Revell, had used the
extrao rdinary po wers  o f the co unterterro rism apparatus  agains t do mes tic o ppo nents  o f the adminis tratio n's  Central American
po licies  as  well.

T he Administ rat io n-Select  Co mmit t ee Co nsensus o n t he Need t o  Co nt inue Co vert  Operat io ns

It is  clear that the "Iran-co ntra affair" was  so me so rt o f po litical o r even co ns titutio nal cris is . Unfo rtunately, as  in the case o f
Watergate a decade ago , there was  no  natio nal co nsensus  o n what co ns tituted that cris is , and hence o n what mus t be do ne to  end
it. Fo r many o uts ide the go vernment, the true cris is  was  no t the bureaucratic affair but rather the undeclared war (in this  case the
co ntra suppo rt po licy) and the co nsequent inner divis io ns  in the natio n, divis io ns  which explained why the secret intrigues  had taken
place. There were few spo kesmen fo r such a view in the co mmittees . On the co ntrary, it can be said that the co mmittees  fo cused o n
the bureaucratic dys functio ns  (No rth's  deceit o f his  co lleagues) much mo re than o n the co ns titutio nal cris is  (No rth's  deceit and

manipulatio n o f the public).31

The televised hearings  o f the Iran-Co ntra Select Co mmittees  fo cused very narro wly o n the Iran arms  sales  and the divers io n o f
so me o f the co nco mitant pro fits  to  the co ntra cause. Like the previo us ly is sued To wer Co mmiss io n Repo rt, they co nceptualized the
cris is  as  a pro blem o f co wbo y bureaucrats  “o ut 

o f co ntro l," and thus  sugges ted that individuals , rather than ins titutio ns , co ntributed to  the ero s io n o f co ns titutio nal checks  and
balances , individual freedo ms, and demo cratic pro cess . Further, they zealo us ly ho no red the adminis tratio n's  decis io n that the
co unterterro rism apparatus  deserved to  remain class ified when do cuments  were censo red fo r release to  the public.

Thus  the Select Co mmittees ' Report, like its  televised hearings , tended to  perpetuate the myth that the cris is  has  disappeared with
the departure o f Oliver No rth fro m the White Ho use. The net effect o f the Report's  co mpro mise language was  to  play do wn the
impo rtance that tho se members  o f the co unterterro rism netwo rk who  remained in the Reagan adminis tratio n had had in the
generatio n o f this  s trategy in the firs t place.

It is  relevant here that a so lid majo rity o f the co mmittees  (17 o ut o f 26  members ) had vo ted fo r co ntra aid; and that (acco rding to

Ho use co mmittee chairman Lee Hamilto n) every co mmittee member agreed that "we mus t be able to  co nduct co vert actio ns .”32 The
do mes tic enemies  No rth so  feared had few spo kesperso ns  o n the Select Co mmittees . Only two  Co ngressmen (Sto kes  and Bro o ks)
ever raised critical ques tio ns  abo ut No rth's  invas io ns  o f do mes tic liberties ; and, s ignificantly, bo th were to ld that such matters
sho uld be co ns idered o nly in executive sess io n.

At the end o f No rth's  tes timo ny Lee Hamilto n, chair o f the Ho use co mmittee, gave an extended critique o f No rth's  activities  that was
much like the critique o ffered by Geo rge Bush. Silent abo ut No rth's  abuses  o f do mes tic po wer, s ilent abo ut the waging o f a secret
co ntra war in the face o f co ngress io nal pro hibitio n and po pular disappro val, Hamilto n fo cused, like Bush, o n the credibility pro blem

raised by the Iran arms  sales : "This  secret po licy o f selling arms  to  Iran damaged US credibility.”33

Hamilto n's  res tricted windo w o f disagreement with No rth was  defined by his  affirmatio ns  o f agreement:

There are many parts  o f yo ur tes timo ny that I agree with. I agree with yo u that these co mmittees  mus t be careful no t
to  cripple the Pres ident. I agree with yo u that o ur go vernment needs  the capability to  carry o ut co vert actio ns .
During my s ix years  o n the [Ho use] Intelligence Co mmittee, o ver 90  percent o f the co vert actio ns  that were

reco mmended to  us  by the Pres ident were suppo rted and appro ved.34

With this  explicit agreement o n the need to  co ntinue co vert o peratio ns , many o f which (especially tho se in Ango la and Afghanis tan)
had suppo rt arrangements  entangled with No rth's  Iran-co ntra "Enterprise," the co mmittees  mo s tly averted their eyes  fro m the
bro ader extent o f the No rth-Seco rd po wer apparatus ; and they suppressed o r delayed release o f impo rtant do cuments  relating to  it.
The Report reflected the Bush-No rth-Hamilto n co nsensus: it to o  faulted the Iran arms  sales  fo r undermining U.S. "credibility with
friends  and allies " (R 12); and it fo und fault no t with co vert o peratio ns , but rather with "co vert po licies " that were "a pervers io n o f
the pro per co ncept o f co vert o peratio ns " (R 17).

Because No rth used bo th the Enterprise and co unterterro rism apparatus  fo r the harassment o f o ne o f his  do mes tic critics , Jack
Terrell, we shall do  what the co mmittee did no t: reco ns truct fro m the public reco rd what little is  kno wn o f No rth's  and Bush's
co llabo ratio n in the area o f do mes tic repress io n, including the co ntingency plans  develo ped by No rth, under Bush's  auspices , fo r the
ro und-up and depo rtatio n o f "terro ris t aliens ."



Bush, No rt h, and t he Develo pment  o f  Secret  Do mest ic Po wers

The little-no ticed secret relatio nship between No rth and the Office o f the Vice Pres ident went back at leas t to  1982, when No rth was
the NSC s taff co o rdinato r fo r cris is  management. Bush at that time was  charged by NSDD No . 3 o f 1981 with respo ns ibility fo r

cris is  management, and had been repo rted by the New York Times to  be leader o f a Cabinet-level Cris is  Management Co mmittee.35

No rth's  secretary, Fawn Hall, jo ined him in February 1983, and the two  then wo rked o n the develo pment o f a secret Cris is

Management Center.36  (No rth also  met with members  o f the Office o f the Vice Pres ident o n such related co mmittees  as  the Cris is
Pre-Planning Co mmittee and the Natio nal Security Planning Gro up.)

There has  been much debate as  to  what this  firs t phase o f No rth's  wo rk o n cris is  management invo lved. On July 5, 1987, the Miami
Herald repo rted that No rth "helped draw up a co ntro vers ial plan to  suspend the Co ns titutio n in the event o f natio nal cris is  such as
nuclear war, vio lent and widespread internal dis sent, o r natio nal o ppo s itio n to  a U.S. military invas io n abro ad." The allegedly
envisaged the ro und-up and internment o f large numbers  o f bo th do mes tic dis s idents  (so me 26 ,000) and aliens  (perhaps  as  many
as  300 ,000-400,000) in camps  such as  the o ne in Oakdale, Lo uis iana.

These co ntingency plans  are particularly alarming in the light o f revelatio ns  that the FBI had s ince 1981 "co nducted extens ive
surveillance hundreds  o f American citizens  and gro ups  o ppo sed to  the Reagan adminis tratio n's  po licies  in Central America"; and
that it may have co nducted at so me o f this  surveillance under the mo re permiss ive guidelines  which go verned "cases  o f suspected

internatio nal terro rism.”37

The FBI's  indus try in identifying po litical dis senters  seems  much mo re o mino us  in the light o f co nco mitant co ntingency plans  to
ro und such dis senters  up.

In the televised Iran-Co ntra Hearings , No rth was  asked by Co ngressman Bro o ks  to  dis cuss  the alleged co ntingency plan to  suspend
the American co ns titutio n. Senato r Ino uye, the co mmittee chairman, twice intervened, ruling that the ques tio n was  "highly sens itive
and class ified," and sho uld o nly be dis cussed in executive sess io n. The next day No rth to ld Senato r Bo ren, a much mo re pliant

ques tio ner, that to  his  kno wledge the United States  had no  such plan "in being," and that he had no t participated in it.38

Altho ugh No rth's  answers  to  Bo ren's  carefully phrased ques tio ns  appear to  be technically co rrect, they are very mis leading. A later
repo rt revealed that a draft executive o rder giving the pres ident bro ad emergency po wers  during a severe cris is  had indeed been
submitted thro ugh No rth to  the Natio nal Security Co uncil in May 1984. The o rder co ntained pro vis io ns  fo r "alien co ntro l" and “the
detentio n o f enemy aliens ." The then Atto rney General, William French Smith, dis clo sed in 1987 that his  o ppo s itio n had killed the

pro po sa1.39

Nevertheless , the ins titutio nal relatio nship between Bush and No rth co ntinued to  evo lve, and did eventually result in s imilar
pro po sals  that are s till o perative, as  well as  in secret po wers  which No rth used agains t at leas t o ne do mes tic critic. This  evo lutio n
went thro ugh many s tages .

In Octo ber 1983, under the guidance o f the Vice Pres ident's  Special Situatio ns  Gro up (SSG), No rth helped draft the Natio nal
Security Decis io n Directive which autho rized the invas io n o f Grenada. That winter the two  men vis ited El Salvado r, where Bush to ld
lo cal army co mmanders  they wo uld have to  cease their suppo rt fo r death squads . No rth tes tif ied to  the Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees
that Bush's  actio n "was  o ne o f the braves t things  I've seen fo r [s ic] anybo dv." Bush has  s ince recipro cated by repeatedly referring to

No rth as  a “hero .”40

In April 1984 No rth drafted ano ther Natio nal Security Decis io n Directive, which created a new co unterterro rism planning gro up (the
Terro ris t Incident Wo rking Gro up, o r TIWG) to  rescue U.S. ho s tages  in Lebano n (and abo ve all the CIA Statio n Chief there, William
Buckley, who  had jus t been kidnapped). No rth became the chair o f the new co unterterro ris t gro up. TIWG's  firs t majo r o n was  the
Octo ber 1985 interceptio n and capture o f the hijackers  o f the Achille Lauro -- which gave a big bo o s t to  No rth's  pres tige ins ide the
Adminis tratio n.

In respo nse to  the June 1985 hijack o f a TWA plane to  Beirut, No rth wo rked o n the release o f the ho s tage passengers , and Bush
was  cho sen to  head the lo nger-term Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism. As  the Natio nal Security Co uncil liaiso n
with the Task Fo rce, No rth drafted a secret annex fo r its  repo rt, in which he ins titutio nalized and expanded his  o wn co unterterro ris t
po wers  and also  made himself the NSC co o rdinato r o f all co unterterro ris t actio ns .

In January 1986, by virtue o f bo th the Task Fo rce repo rt and o f Natio nal Security Decis io n Directive No . 207, No rth was  given a new
Office to  Co mbat Terro rism, which was  kept secret even fro m many o ther NSC members . Two  key members  o f Bush's  Task Fo rce
s taff, Ro bert Earl and Craig Co y, mo ved o ver to  s taff No rth's  new o ffice. Earl and Co y spent much o f the next year wo rking o n the
Iran arms  sales  and co ntra suppo rt o peratio n, which made it eas ier fo r No rth to  travel. While wo rking fo r No rth, Earl and Co y were in

fact o fficially attached to  the Cris is  Management Center, where No rth had wo rked in 1983.41 As  we have seen, No rth also  became
chair o f ano ther new Task Fo rce creatio n, the new interagency Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up. The OSG answered to  the TIWG, which was
des igned to  plan bo ld new pre-emptive measures , such as  kidnapping, agains t suspected terro ris ts .

In June 1986  a new "Alien Bo rder Co ntro l Co mmittee" was  es tablished, "to  implement specific reco mmendatio ns  made by the Vice

Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Terro rism regarding the co ntro l and remo val o f terro ris t aliens  in the U.S.” 42 One o f its  wo rking gro ups

was  charged with co nducting "a review o f co ntingency plans  fo r remo val o f selected aliens ."43 These 1986  co ntingency plans
"relating to  alien terro ris ts ," which were leaked to  the press , "anticipated that the INS may be tasked with ... apprehending, and
remo ving fro m the U.S., a s izeable gro up o f aliens ," and again called fo r ho us ing "up to  5,000  aliens  in tempo rary (tents ) quarters "

at a camp in Oakdale, Lo uis iana.44 As  the des ignated co o rdinato r o f co unterterro rism in the Natio nal Security Co uncil, No rth wo uld
certainly have kno wn o f these co ntingency plans , which appear to  be s till with us .

Bush's  po litical auto bio graphy, Looking Forward, gave the impress io n he had o nly minimal acquaintance with No rth and the Iran arms-
sales  initiative. The Vice Pres ident ackno wledged o nly two  co ntacts  with No rth: during the Grenada o peratio n, and when he
telepho ned No rth fro m Is rael befo re meeting that co untry's  to p representative (Nir) in the Iran arms  deals . He admitted kno wing o f

the secret trip by No rth and McFarlane to  Tehran, but denied kno wing o f No rth's  "o ther secret o peratio ns " befo re No vember 1986.45

No rth's  diaries  sugges t, ho wever, that in this  perio d he was  in recurring co ntact with Bush, Bush's  advisers , and the o ther members
o f Bush's  Task Fo rce. Fro m July 1985 to  January 1986, when the secret end-run aro und Secretary Shultz  o n the Iran arms  sales  was
devised, the available pages  o f No rth's  diaries  sho w o nly o ne meeting with Pres ident Reagan (o n Octo ber after the capture o f the
Achille Lauro  hijackers ). But they sho w fo ur meetings  with the vice pres ident, either alo ne, o r with Amiram Nir, the to p Is
co unterterro rism expert (No vember 19), o r in the presence o f Do nald Gregg (July 15, September 10 , January 28). In additio n, there
are at leas t s ix reco rded meetings  o f No rth with the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce (o n July 25, September 16 , September 18 , Octo ber



2, December 11, and January 7).

OSG, the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up o f the o lder Terro ris t Incident Wo rking Gro up, co nvened fo r the firs t time a few ho urs  after this  las t
reference Task Fo rce o n January 7, 1986 , the day that Shultz  and Weinberger vigo ro us ly o ppo sed the Iran arms-sales  plan (R 203).
OSG-TlWG met twice again that mo nth (January 14 and 31); but its  members  appear to  have been already meeting with No rth under
the title Res tricted Terro ris t Incident Wo rking Gro up (RTIWG) o n No vember 6  and 21. Finally, the diaries  sho w at leas t 14 o ther
meetings  with the Task Fo rce's  senio r members  (Admiral James  Ho llo way, Ambassado r Ro bert Oakley, and Charles  Allen), its

principal co nsultant (Terry Arno ld), and its  s taff (Ro bert Earl, and Craig Co y, who  eventually became No rth's  o wn s taff).46

In his  tes timo ny No rth sugges ted an even mo re intimate relatio nship with Bush. He to ld the co mmittee that "when my father died,
there were three peo pIe in the go vernment o f the United States  that expressed their co ndo lences ." Two  o f these were Admiral

Po indexter and William Casey, his  to p bo sses  in the Iran-co ntra co vert o peratio ns . The third "was  the Vice Pres ident o f the States ."47

Bush, No rt h, and t he Bureaucrat ic Co nsensus o n t he Need t o  Deal wit h Do mest ic Enemies

Ho w serio us ly sho uld we regard these co ntingency plans? Certainly Bush, even in the eyes  o f his  o ppo nents , appears  an unlikely
candidate to  try to  rule America by the impo s itio n o f martial law. Nevertheless , there is  a deep ins titutio nal mo mentum (as  o ppo sed
to  perso nal impetus ) behind the plans  to  deal with do mes tic enemies  -- the same ins titutio nal mo mentum which up to  no w has  also
co ntinued to  pro mo te the po licy o f co ntra suppo rt despite widespread disappro val bo th in this  co untry and abro ad.

Abso lute po wers , o nce acquired, are seldo m willingly surrendered; they are to o  useful fo r o ther purpo ses . In o ur present cris is ,
po wers  co nferred in the name o f fighting terro ris ts  have in fact been applied agains t perso ns  like Brian Willso n, who se o ffense was
to  is sue a no nvio lent challenge to  the Reagan adminis tratio n's  co ntra suppo rt po licies , o r perso ns  like Jack Terrell, who  had
repo rted the illegalities  o f the No rth-Seco rd co ntra suppo rt apparatus .

The reluctance o f the press  o r Co ngress  to  explo re the use o f co unterterro rism po wers  agains t dis senters  to  the co ntra suppo rt
po licy is  itself a sympto m o f a natio nal divis io n (like that o ver Vietnam) that is  already to o  deep fo r o ur po litical pro cesses  to
reso lve eas ily. The adminis tratio n and its  intelligence apparatus  are apparently as  determined to  maintain tho se po licies  as  gro wing
numbers  o f peo ple are to  o ppo se them.

Here it is  impo rtant to  remember that Bush, as  a fo rmer Directo r o f Central Intelligence, was  the o riginal preferred pres idential
candidate o f many CIA emplo yees  and veterans  in 1980; and that CIA veterans  like Daniel Murphy and Do nald Gregg were afterwards
members  o f his  inner circle. Thro ugh the vice pres ident's  respo ns ibilities  fo r three crucial areas  o f co vert o peratio ns  – cris is
management, drugs , and co unterterro rism -- the CIA veterans  aro und Bush maintained co ntinuo us  co ntact with o thers  s till ins ide
the agency, such as  the CIA’s  chief co unterterro rism co o rdinato r Duane Clarridge.

Nevertheless , the Iran-Co ntra Select Co mmittees  refused to  lo o k at the develo pment o f emergency do mes tic po wers  agains t large
numbers  o f aliens , and po ss ibly o ther o ppo nents  o f the adminis tratio n's  war po licies . This  was  an alarming o miss io n. No rth, at
leas t, believed fervently in the necess ity o f dealing with do mes tic enemies .

In respo nse to  a friendly leading ques tio n fro m the Ho use Chief Republican Co unsel, Geo rge Van Cleve, No rth explained ho w his
Vietnam experience affected his  view o f the co ntras :

In Vietnam ... in my o pinio n, we wo n all the battles  and then lo s t the war .... I wo uld also  po int o ut that we didn't lo se
the war in Vietnam. We lo s t the war right here in this  city .... We canno t be seen, I believe, in the wo rld to day as
walking away and leaving failure in o ur wake. We mus t be able to  demo ns trate, no t o nly in Nicaragua, but in
Afghanis tan and Ango la, and elsewhere where freedo m fighters  have been to ld "We will suppo rt yo u," we mus t be

able to  co ntinue to  do  so . If we do  no t, we will be o verwhelmed.48

The lo gical co ro llary to  such a determined po s itio n was  indeed that America's  mo s t serio us  enemies  are its  do mes tic o nes , and that
plans  fo r "victo ry" in Central America mus t entail plans  fo r "victo ry" in Washingto n, D.C.

No rth was  speaking fo r a large co nsensus  amo ng bo th po licymakers  and Co ld War academics  who  believe that "the mo s t press ing

pro blem is  no t in the Third Wo rld. but here at ho me in the s truggle fo r the minds  o f the peo ple.”49  His  co mplaint also  echo ed that o f
the French co lo nels  who  believed (in the wo rds  o f a sympathetic American o bserver) that "France was  no t defeated in Algeria; de

Gaulle cho se to  retreat."50  This  belief in France led the po litical co lo nels . almo s t all o f who m were veterans  o f po litical warfare in
the co lo nies , to  direct go vernment funds  into  "parallel hierarchies " fo r the manipulatio n o f po litical o pinio n in the ho me co untry.
That practice was  unco mfo rtably clo se to  the use o f go vernment funds  by No rth, Earl, Co y, Carl Channell, and Richard Miller via the
Channell-Miller netwo rk (and with the suppo rt o f rightwing co ntributo rs  and No rth's  Office to  Co mbat Terro rism), in their attempt to

elect a Co ngress  mo re willing to  vo te fo r co ntra aid.51

The co mmittees ' respo nse to  No rth's  defiant ratio nale fo r do mes tic repress io n was  to  avo id, rather than to  explo re, the large area
where No rth had been wo rking o n jus t such co ntingency plans . In his  remarks  at the end o f the No rth Hearings , Senate co mmittee
chairman Ino uye no ted that he, unlike many o f his  co lleagues  o n the panel, had vo ted agains t aid to  the co ntras ; and he quo ted

elo quently and pertinently fro m Tho mas  Jefferso n o n the right to  dis sent.52

Yet it was  Senato r Ino uye who , so unding his  gavel, to ld Co ngressman Bro o ks  that press  references  to  “a co ntingency plan in the
event o f emergency that wo uld suspend the American Co ns titutio n" to uched upo n "a highly sens itive and class ified area," and sho uld

no t be dis cussed in o pen sess io n.53 One has  the unco mfo rtable impress io n that he, and the o ther veterans  o f the Intelligence
Co mmittees , were o nly to o  aware o f the updated co ntingency plans  s till in place.

No rth's  Use o f the Co unterterro ris t Netwo rk Agains t a Whis tle-blo wer 

It is  kno wn that No rth, with the ass is tance o f FBI Executive Ass is tant Directo r Oliver Revell, did use the secret po wers  o f the OSG
agains t a fo rmer co ntra suppo rter, Jack Terrell, who  had begun to  repo rt o n co ntra suppo rt illegalities  to  the FBI. In 1986  Terrell's
revelatio ns  helped o pen an inves tigatio n by U.S. Ass is tant Atto rney Jeffrey Feldman in Miami into  gun-running and drug-trafficking by
co ntra suppo rters  (R 107). Thanks  to  the new po wers  co nferred o n No rth by the Bush Task Fo rce, co pies  o f the FBI memo s  were,

"because it was  an internatio nal terro ris t matter," fo rwarded co ntinuo us ly to  No rth's  o ffice.54 Fro m early o n, the Jus tice Department
in Washingto n injected itself into  the Miami inves tigatio n (R 107). 

Terrell charged specifically that No rth was  linked, thro ugh his  ass is tant Ro bert Owen, to  a co ntra suppo rt base in Co s ta Rica that
was  o wned by an American called Jo hn Hull, where bo th arms  and guns  were being smuggled. The No rth-Owen-Hull co nnectio n was



later amply do cumented by the Select Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees  (R 106-109), while Terrell's  allegatio ns  abo ut drug running at the Hull
ranch, igno red and indeed suppressed by the Jus tice Department and the Select Co mmittees , have been largely co rro bo rated by
witnesses  (Jo rge Mo rales , Gary Betzner, Werner Lutz ) befo re the Kerry Subco mmittee.

No rth and Owen were co ncerned to  learn in April 1986  that U.S. Ass is tant Atto rney Feldman and an FBI agent fro m Miami, after
interviewing Terrell, had arrived in Co s ta Rica to  interview Hull (R 107-108). Their co ncern was  at leas t in part perso nal, because the
inves tigato rs  were pass ing aro und a chart that linked No rth and Owen, thro ugh Hull, to  a Cuban-American terro ris t and suspected

drug trafficker called Rene Co rvo , who  was  a fo cus  o f the Miami inves tigatio n.55 As  No rth knew fro m the FBI memo s  fo rwarded to
him, the Miami FBI's  zeal to  pursue the Co rvo  inves tigatio n (in co ntras t to  the Washingto n Jus tice Department's  later measures  to
s lo w it do wn) derived fro m the fact that many o f the peo ple impo rtant in it were extremis ts  invo lved in earlier terro ris t actio ns ,

no tably the bo mbing o f a Miami bank in 1983.56  Terrell's  o wn no tes  and memo s  fro m his  dis cuss io ns  in Miami, which are largely
co rro bo rated by newspaper repo rts , sugges t that the Miami Cuban netwo rk aro und Co rvo  in the co ntra supply o peratio n included
key members  o f pas t intelligence-spo nso red terro r netwo rks , no tably the so -called CORU netwo rk which in 1976, when Bush was
Directo r o f Central Intelligence, to o k credit fo r 

Cuban civilian airliner and o f fo rmer Chilean Ambassado r Orlando  Letelier.57

No rth’s  co ncern increased as  Terrell began to  go  public with his  charges . When the Chris tic Ins titute suit, f iled o n May 29 , 1986 ,
used Terrell's  charges  to  accuse Hull and Owen o f being part o f a terro ris t co nspiracy, No rth initially asked the FBI to  have its
Intelligence Divis io n inves tigate the Chris tic Ins titute, alo ng with o ther aspects  o f what he, and the FBI, called a "Nicaraguan Active
Measures  Pro gram" directed agains t No rth. He co mplained in particular abo ut the FBI's  failure to  o btain "any info rmatio n co ncerning

drug charges  agains t No rth."58

The FBI "determined that there is  a definite asso ciatio n between the dates  o f the Co ngress io nal vo tes  o n Co ntra aide (s ic) to  the
Nicaraguan rebels  and the 'active measures ' being directed agains t Lieutenant Co lo nel No rth." Nevertheless , the FBI, trying to  s tay

o ut o f a sens itive po litical f ight between the White Ho use and Co ngress , declined to  pursue the matter.59

Then o n June 25, 1986 , fo r the firs t time Terrell aired o n the CBS sho w “Wes t 57th" his  charges  abo ut the relatio nship o f No rth and
Owen to  the Jo hn Hull ranch in Co s ta Rica. By no w Richard Seco rd, who  unlike No rth was  a defendant in the Chris tic suit, was  us ing
Enterprise funds  to  have an inves tigato r, Glenn Ro binette, interview Terrell. On July 15, Ro binette submitted a memo  o n Terrell, in
which he repo rted o n Terrell's  unpaid relatio nship to  the Chris tic Ins titute, and added that Hull's  air s trips , acco rding to  Terrell, "were

used fo r landings  and trans fer o f military equipment but also  drugs .”6 0  Ro binette also  transmitted to  No rth excerpts  Terrell had
given him fro m a bo o k he was  writing, in which he talked abo ut co ntra dis cuss io ns  o f pas t and future attempts  to  assass inate the

dis s ident co ntra leader Eden Pas to ra.6 1 (A bo mb attempt o n Pas to ra's  life in May 1984, which killed and injured many o thers , was
the central allegatio n in the charges  bro ught by the Chris tic Ins titute.)

At this  po int the secret co unterterro rism po wers  es tablished by Bush to  deal with assass inatio n threats  went into  high gear to
inves tigate no t Hull o r Co rvo , but rather Terrell the whis tle-blo wer. On the same day, July 15, so meo ne in the FBI "suspected that
Terrell might be invo lved" in an alleged assass inatio n plo t: no t the plo t agains t Pas to ra, but the plo t, o f which it had heard fro m "a

class ified so urce[,] that pro -Sandinis ta individuals  might have been co ntemplating an assass inatio n o f Pres ident Reagan" (R 112).6 2

On July 17, this  was  co nveyed to  No rth by his  FBI co unterpart o n the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up, Oliver Revell. No rth met with Ro binette
the same evening, and to ld him to  take his  July 15 memo , alo ng with Terrell's  bo o k excerpts  abo ut the alleged plo ts  agains t Pas to ra,

to  Revell at the FBI.6 3 He also  prepared a memo  fo r Admiral Po indexter, calling Terrell a "terro ris t threat," and fo cus ing at the o utset
o n Terrell's  ro le in the Chris tic Ins titute suit.

As  a so urce fo r this  allegatio n, No rth no ted that "o ne o f the security o fficers  fo r Pro ject Demo cracy" (No rth's  euphemism fo r the
No rth-Seco rd "Enterprise" o f private co mpanies ) had inves tigated Terrell, and that this  "security o fficer" (Seco rd's  inves tigato r
Glenn Ro binette), was  meeting that night with the FBI representative to  the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up, Oliver Revell. The memo
explained that the FBI "was  preparing a co unterintelligence/co unterterro rism o peratio ns  plan" agains t Terrell, "fo r review by OSG-
TIWG to mo rro w." This  plan was  presumably appro ved by the OSG, s ince o ne week later No rth repo rted that the FBI and the Secret
Service no w had Terrell under "active surveillance."

Glenn Ro binette's  repeated meetings  with Terrell in July 1986  had no thing whatso ever to  do  with terro rism o r co unterterro rism, but
were ins tead a naked attempt to  s ilence Terrell as  a witness . This  is  clear fro m a seco nd unaddressed Ro binette memo  o f July 17,
1986, held but no t released by the Select Co mmittees , which repo rted o n his  effo rts  to  "inves tigate" Terrell. The memo  co nfirms  why
the Enterprise was  co ncerned abo ut Terrell: "what he kno ws  ... co uld be embarrass ing to  R[ichard] S[eco rd];” and "Terrell may
actually po ssess  eno ugh info rmatio n ... to  be dangero us  to  o ur o bjectives ."

The memo  co rro bo rates  Terrell's  o wn s to ry that Ro binette tried to  s ilence Terrell by o ffering funds  fo r a pro po sed helico pter service
bus iness  in Co s ta Rica. It reco mmends  that Ro binette's  "interes t" in this  pro ject be increased: "The 'inves to rs ' wo uld require that he
reduce o r s to p his  'po litical talking' as  it wo uld 'affect o ur inves tment.'" The memo  co ncludes  that by this  means  "the cho pper o r air
freight service in Co s ta Rica" co uld be "co nnected to  so me future no n-co mmercial [co vert o peratio ns  suppo rt?] wo rk;” and that "we

wo uld have him [Terrell] in hand and so mewhat in o ur co ntro l.”6 4

On the same day, July 17, No rth also  prepared his  o wn memo  fo r Jo hn Po indexter, repo rting o n Ro binette's  evaluatio n o f Terrell, but
also  s ignificantly altering it. Where Ro binette had called Terrell an "Operatio nal Threat" (a po ss ible "serio us  threat to  us  based o n ...
his  previo us ly spo ken s tatements "), No rth called Terrell a "Terro ris t Threat." Where Ro binette had said Terrell "may po ssess  eno ugh
info rmatio n ... to  be dangero us  to  o ur o bjectives ," No rth wro te that "o ne o f the security o fficers  fo r Pro ject Demo cracy" (Ro binette)

had evaluated Terrell "as  'extremely dangero us ' and po ss ibly wo rking fo r the security services  o f ano ther co untry."6 5

A later No rth memo  added:

It is  impo rtant to  no te that Terrell has  been a principal witness  agains t suppo rters  o f the Nicaraguan res is tance [i.e.,
o f the co ntras ] bo th in and o uts ide the U.S. Go vernment. Terrell's  accusatio ns  have fo rmed the bas is  o f a civil law
suit [the Chris tic Ins titute's  suit] and his  charges  are at the center o f Senato r Kerry's  inves tigatio n [o f the co ntra

suppo rt o peratio n's  alleged invo lvement in drug-trafficking] in the Senate Fo reign Relatio ns  Co mmittee.”6 6

No rth's  memo s  did no t mentio n what had chiefly co ncerned his  aide Ro bert Owen: that Terrell's  repo rts  to  the FBI abo ut Jo hn Hull,
Owen, and No rth had launched an inves tigatio n by Ass is tant U.S. Atto rney Jeffrey Feldman in Miami. Inasmuch as  Terrell had
vo lunteered his  info rmatio n to  the FBI, the Jus tice Department, and a co ngress io nal co mmittee, Ro binette's  actio ns  and



reco mmendatio ns  might appear to  co ns titute impro per interference with a witness .

We kno w fro m No rth's  later memo s  o n Terrell that by July 25

the Operatio ns  Sub-Gro up (OSG) o f the Terro ris t Incident Wo rking Gro up (TIWG) ha[d] made available to  the FBI all
info rmatio n o n Mr. Terrell fro m o ther U.S. Go vernment agencies . Vario us  go vernment agencies  -- Cus to ms , Secret
Service, the Bureau o f Alco ho l, To bacco  and Firearms  -- have info rmatio n o f so me o f Terrell's  activities  and the FBI
is  currently co nso lidating this  info rmatio n fo r their inves tigatio n.

By this  date "the FBI, in co ncert with the Secret Service," had "Terrell under active surveillance.”6 7

T he FBI Expands t he T errell Invest igat io n t o  Ot hers

On July 29  and 30  the FBI and the Secret Service po lygraphed Terrell fo r two  who le days , after which the FBI "eliminated him as  being

a threat to  the Pres ident.”6 8  Revell repo rted this  to  the OSG, adding ho wever that the FBI was  s till "pursuing o ther po ss ible areas  o f

inves tigatio n.”6 9

Indeed it was . By no w the FBI had put o thers  under surveillance, including two  members  o f the Nicaraguan Embassy, and David
MacMichael, an acquaintance o f Terrell and vo cal critic o f co ntra aid. Ro binette had to ld the FBI o n July 17 that he had reached Terrell
at the Internatio nal Center fo r Develo pment Po licy (ICDP), a Washingto n public interes t gro up which bro ught Terrell to  Washingto n
to  be interviewed by the s taff o f Senato r Kerry's  Subco mmittee; the FBI no w began, apparently thro ugh its  Terro ris t Unit, to

inves tigate the ICDP, and so o n repo rted evidence that the Center was  giving Terrell mo ney.70

The FBI's  inves tigatio n o f the Center co ntinued fo r so me weeks , and leas t three ICDP emplo yees  were interviewed by the FBI abo ut

their fo reign co ntacts .71 The FBI's  interes t in the Intematio nal Center fo r Develo pment Po licy appears  to  have co ntinued after U.S.
Atto rney Kellner "received a letter fro m Jo hn Hull [o n Augus t 27, 1986] making serio us  allegatio ns  o f impro priety by members  o f
Senato r Kerry’s  s taff,” which Kellner had bro ught with him to  Mark Richard in Washingto n o n Augus t 29  (R 109). Terrell's  activities  at

the Internatio nal Center were central to  Hull's  allegatio ns .72 Kellner tes tif ied that Hull's  affidavits  were "amateurish" and that he did

no t believe them; nevertheless , his  o wn depo s itio n co nfirms  that the affidavits  were inves tigated.73

Because Terrell had used the Center's  telepho nes . it seems  likely that the electro nic surveillance o n Terrell expanded into  electro nic
surveillance o f the Center itself. In No vember, when the Hasenfus  co ntra supply plane went do wn, the Center was  burglarized; and
the o nly do cuments  taken were co pies  o f the airplane's  lo gs  that Terrell had been s tudying there. (Also  that fall, the Washingto n
o ffice o f fo ur no nvio lent Gandhians  who  were fas ting o n the Capito l s teps  was  bro ken into  after they to o  had been des ignated
"terro ris ts " by the FBI.)

The effo rts  o f No rth and o thers  to  bring pressure o n Terrell canno t be described as  a failure. When Terrell came to  Washingto n, he
prepared fo r Senato r Kerry's  s taff a series  o f memo s  describing the drug activities  o f men in the co ntra suppo rt netwo rk like Rene

Co rvo , Felipe Vidal, No rwin Meneses , and Frank Cas tro .74 No ne o f these names  (no t even Co rvo 's ) will be fo und in the Select
Co mmittees ' acco unt o f the Rene Co rvo  inves tigatio n in Miami (R 106-109). And no ne o f these names  have as  yet surfaced in the
Hearings  o f Senato r Kerry's  Senate Fo reign Relatio ns  Subco mmittee o n Narco tics .

Terrell's  essential credibility as  a witness  is  co rro bo rated by subsequent revelatio ns  abo ut the Jo hn Hull ranch in Co s ta Rica, the
No rth-Owen relatio nship to  it, and the belatedly released Ro binette memo  abo ut effo rts  to  get Terrcll "in o ur co ntro l." Yet it is  he,
and no t Jo hn Hull, who  has  s ince been indicted by a Miami Grand Jury, a Grand Jury which iro nically was  o riginally impaneled partly as
a result o f the info rmatio n abo ut Hull which Terrell gave the FBI (R 109).

In 1988, having been already warned o f his  impending indictment by the Reagan-Meese Jus tice Department, Terrell declined, o n the
advice o f co unsel, to  answer ques tio ns  when summo ned as  a witness  by the Chris tic Ins titute. Deprived o f tes timo ny fro m the man

an FBI Teletype o nce described as  a "s tar witness " in the suit, the Chris tic Ins titute suit was  thro wn o ut when it came to  trial.75

It is  hardly surpris ing that No rth wo uld use the po wers  co nferred o n him to  co ver up his  suppo rt o peratio n's  illegalities , and
particularly the s to ries  abo ut and assass inatio n plo ts . What is  mo s t surpris ing is  that Co ngress , despite its  pro fessed co ncern
abo ut drugs , also  participated in this  co ver-up. It is  clear m FBI Teletypes  that Terrell had been interviewed by them abo ut “alleged…

smuggling o f weapo ns  and narco tics .”76  Yet the Repo rt o f the Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees , as  ass iduo us ly as  No rth, suppressed every
reference to  Terrrell’s  drug allegatio ns  (R 106-08), as  well as  to  the plo t agains t Pas to ra. It falsely presented Terrell as  a self-
admitted CIA assass in (R 112); and let it appear that Terrell had been interviewed as  a suspect in alleged assass inatio n plo ts , rather
than as  a witness  (R 116). Thus  Co ngress  has  so  far affo rded this  whis tle-blo wer no  relief.

T he Failure o f  Co ngress

Bo th the Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees ' o wn perfo rmances  and the narro wly drawn co ngress io nal reso lutio ns  under which the co mmittees
were es tablished sho w a co ncern to  s ides tep the larger is sues  o f secret po wers  and secret wars , which threaten o nce again to  divide
this  co untry as  it drifts  to wards  a military invo lvement in Central America that co uld pro ve even mo re divis ive than Vietnam. Where
the co mmittees ' Report suppresses  o r mis represents  the truth (as  happens  to o  o ften), it is  usually to  prevent dis clo sure o f o ther

co vert o peratio ns  already autho rized by Co ngress .77

Co ngress ' demo ns trated reluctance to  raise the larger is sues  o f co vert o peratio ns  is  unders tandable. The track reco rd o f tho se
iso lated co ngressmen who  have challenged co vert o peratio ns  o r fo reign interventio ns  in the pas t is  no t enco uraging. Co ngressman
Otis  Pike, after his  Ho use Select Co mmittee in 1975 autho red a repo rt critical o f the CIA, was  defeated at the next electio n; the Pike
Repo rt, by maneuvers  witho ut precedent o r parallel in two  centuries  o f U.S. co ngress io nal his to ry, co uld no t even be presented

directly to  Co ngress .78

Co ngressman Pike's  exemplary fate is  far fro m unique. After Senato r Frank Church had co ncluded his  much mo re circumspect
Hearings  and Repo rt o n the CIA, he to o  was  defeated at the next electio n. So  was  Senato r Dick Clark, autho r o f the Clark
Amendment, which pro hibited further CIA co vert o peratio ns  in Ango la. So  were the o nly two  members  o f Co ngress  (Senato rs  Wayne
Mo rse and Ernes t Gruening) who  dared to  vo te agains t the To nkin Gulf Reso lutio n, which in 1964 co mmitted Co ngress  to  the
undeclared war in Vietnam.

So  was  (in his  1986  Senate Primary attempt) Co ngressman Michael Barnes , "a vo cal o ppo nent o f military ass is tance to  the
Co ntras " (R 99). As  "Spitz " Channell bo as ted in a telegram to  Oliver No rth, "We, at the Anti-Terro rism American Co mmittee (ATAC),



feel pro ud to  have participated in a campaign to  ensure Co ngressman Barnes ' defeat" (R 99). One o f the Channell-Miller do cuments
s tressed the effect this  defeat wo uld have o n o ther co ngressmen:

If we get rid o f Barnes  we get rid o f the ring leader and rid o f the pro blem. Special PAC to  do  1 thing o nly: to  RID
Co ngress  o f Co ngressmen that are trying to  undermine Pres ident in his  anti-terro ris t po licies  .... Des tro y Barnes  --

use him as  o bject lesso n to  o thers .79

The average co ngressman was  no t likely to  igno re a lesso n so  richly subs idized by public and private reso urces . As  Peter Ko rnbluh
has  written,

The adminis tratio n's  tenacio us  public diplo macy campaign so  intimidated Co ngress  that no t even a success io n o f
s candals  in the spring and summer o f 1986  co uld prevent the pres ident fro m eventually achieving his  go als . Even as
the co ntra pro gram became mired in charges  o f misappro priated funds , rampant co rruptio n, drug trafficking, and

gro ss  mismanagement, Co ngress  appro ved a quantum escalatio n in U.S. interventio n.8 0

The virtual s ilence o f the Iran-Co ntra Co mmittees  abo ut the abuses  o f the co unterterro rism apparatus , and abo ut the use o f OSG
and FBI to  help s ilence a whis tle-blo wer o n co ntra suppo rt illegalities , is  a clear s ign that the FBI is  at leas t as  unlikely as  the CIA to
be publicly criticized by Co ngress . Members  o f Co ngress  sho w little appetite to  inves tigate a bureau which, as  they well kno w, has
been busy o ver the years  inves tigating them.

But the example o f the Vietnam War reminds  us  that, if Co ngress  will no t lead a res is tance to  co vert po wer, it may respo nd to  o ne.
Befo re that happens  to  the po wers  o f the co unterterro ris t apparatus , the press  mus t give the peo ple a much better picture o f them,
and o f the extent to  which they have been actually used agains t critics  o f the adminis tratio n's  po licies  in Central America.

No t es
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2 Report of the Congressional Committees Investigating the Iran-Contra Affair (hencefo rward cited as  R), 100th Co ngress , 1s t Sess io n, H
Rept. No . 100-433; S. Rept. No . 100-216  (No vember 1987), p. 100 .
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Revell to  Senato r David Bo ren, chairman o f the Senate Select Co mmittee o n Intelligence, explaining so me o f the co ntacts  which he
and the FBI had had with Oliver No rth. It is  wo rth quo ting at so me length:

At the time [April 19861, Co l. No rth was  the NSC o fficial charged by the Pres ident with the co o rdinatio n o f o ur
natio nal co unterterro ris t pro gram. He was  respo ns ible fo r wo rking clo sely with the des ignated lead agencies  and
was  respo ns ible fo r participating in all interagency gro ups , maintaining the natio nal pro gramming do cuments ,
ass is ting in the co o rdinatio n o f research and develo pment in relatio n to  co unterterro rism, facilitating the
develo pment o f respo nse o ptio ns  and o verseeing the implementatio n o f the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n
Co mbating Terro rism reco mmendatio ns . This  descriptio n o f Co l. No rth's  po s itio n is  set fo rth in the public repo rt o f
the Vice Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbating Terro rism, February, 1986 . There is  an even mo re detailed and
co mprehens ive descriptio n o f Co l. No rth's  po s itio n in the class ified Natio nal Security Decis io n Directive No . 207
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6  Ro bert Earl Depo s itio n (May 30 , 1987: 98-99; 35).
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Military Affairs , which No rth had used to  pursue his  extra-co ns titutio nal activities  befo re the Task Fo rce reco mmendatio ns  were



ado pted in early 1986. After that date, as  No rth's  ass is tant Ro bert Earl explained. No rth co ntinued to  be

described as  Deputy Directo r fo r Po litical-Military Affairs… in the wiring diagram. But that wasn't where he really wo rked. He really
wo rked fo r Admiral Po indexter direct, with no  intervening o ffice, directo r, o r o ther layer within the NSC. And that was  fo r deliberate
reaso n o f co ver and pro tectio n fo r tho se who  were wo rking the co unter-terro rism pro blem, and the same reaso ning that we o n the
task fo rce cho se no t to  put a little s ign o ut in fro nt o f yo ur o ffice that said “Vice-Pres ident's  Task Fo rce o n Co mbatting Terro rism"
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Pres ident s igned o n to  it": he "wanted Mr. Buckley o ut o f there" ("CBS Evening News ," January 25, 1988 , Transcript, pp. 13-14; cf. p.
9).
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18  In answer to  the ques tio n, "Who  Was  Respo ns ible" fo r the lran-co ntra o peratio ns , the Repo rt lis ts  s ix names  (No rth, Po indexter,
McFarlane, Casey, Seco rd, and Hakim), all o f who m were o ut o f the go vernment (R 20).

19  Geo rge Tes timo ny. Augus t 5-6 ,1987, pp. 277-280, 9 -21.
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